#### NO. 42332-4-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES AND DEPARTMENT OF PERSONNEL,

Appellants,

v.

#### MICHAEL SCHATZ, ET AL,

Appellees.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

KARA A. LARSEN WSBA No. 19247 Senior Counsel ALICIA O. YOUNG WSBA No. 35553 Assistant Attorney General

Labor and Personnel Division P.O. Box 40145 Olympia, WA 98504-0145 (360) 664-4167

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Plaintiffs in this case are two classes of employees that work on the forensic wards at the two psychiatric hospitals operated by the State of Washington, Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS). As Psychiatric Security Nurses (PSNs) and Psychiatric Security Attendants (PSAs), they tend to the day to day needs of patients criminally committed to Western and Eastern State Hospitals. In 2007, more than three years after their union began bargaining their wages, the PSNs and PSAs brought suit against DSHS and the Department of Personnel  $(DOP)^1$ (collectively, the State) seeking higher wages, based on allegations of constitutional equal protection violations, statutory comparable worth violations, and arbitrary and capricious agency action. At trial, however, the PSNs and PSAs not only conceded but argued that their jobs are significantly different from the Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) and Mental Health Technician (MHT) jobs to which they compared themselves. Thus, they do not challenge the classification difference and, accordingly, there is no constitutional equal protection issue. Nor is there a statutory reason for PSNs and PSAs to obtain judicial intervention into their collective bargaining relationship with the State.

In reality, then, the PSNs and PSAs were asking the court to make a subjective qualitative judgment about the value of their jobs as compared to others, and second-guess the decisions made by the employees' own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> DOP was abolished as of October 1, 2011, and its duties transferred to the Department of Enterprise Services and the Office of Financial Management. Laws of 2011, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 43, § 401.

union in negotiating their salaries, the agency charged with administering the civil service system, and the Legislature in its funding decisions. This Court has recognized that the courts of this state are ill-equipped to act as super personnel agencies. Accordingly, the Court should reverse the trial court and remand for dismissal and entry of judgment in favor of the State.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The superior court erred in entering Findings of Fact Nos. 6, 7, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 26, 29, 30, 32 and 34, which all state in various ways that PSNs are similarly situated to LPN 4s and that PSAs are similarly situated to MHT 3s. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 2216, 2219-22.
- 2. The superior court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 15 to the extent it mischaracterizes the holding of the Thurston County Superior Court in Cause No. 80-2-00966-1 and the holding of the Court of Appeals in 8345-1-II. CP at 2218.
- 3. The superior court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 27, which provides that PSN compensation lags significantly behind LPN 4 compensation and that PSA compensation lags significantly behind MHT 3 compensation, contrary to the reason for originally compensating PSNs and PSAs more than LPNs and HAs and directly contrary to the intended outcome of the prior litigation in which PSNs and PSAs won the right to be classified as such at higher compensation rates than LPNs and HAs.<sup>2</sup> CP at 2221.
- 4. The superior court erred in entering Findings of Fact Nos. 28, 46, and 47, which provide that the decision to pay PSNs and PSAs less than LPN 4s and MHT 3s, respectively, was arbitrary and capricious and not based on reality. CP at 2221, 2224.
- 5. The superior court erred in entering Findings of Fact Nos. 36, 37, 38, 39, 40 and 45, which provide that the salary ranges of the PSNs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HA refers to the Hospital Attendant classification, which was the precursor to the Mental Health Technician classification.

and PSAs should be changed to the salary ranges of the LPN 4s and MHT 3s, respectively. CP at 2222-24.

- 6. The superior court erred in entering Findings of Fact Nos. 43 and 44, which provide that awarding PSNs compensation equal to that of LPN 4s and awarding PSAs compensation equal to that of MHT 3s is appropriate under equal protection and comparable worth doctrines. CP at 2224.
- 7. The superior court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 45, which provides that pay rate adjustments shall be retroactive to May 16, 2004, with all corresponding increases. CP at 2224.
- 8. The superior court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 48, which provides that the State did not provide Plaintiffs a meaningful and effective method to challenge the pay range to which the duties of their positions were assigned and that any administrative remedy would have been either non-existent or futile. CP at 2224.
- 9. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 3, to the extent it provides that the remedies awarded relate back to May 16, 2004 and continue prospectively until fully satisfied in accordance with the Court's Order. CP at 2225.
- 10. The superior court erred in entering Conclusions of Law Nos. 4, 6, and 7, which provide that paying Plaintiffs less than LPN 4s and MHT 3s violates their rights to comparable pay for comparable work under the concept of comparable worth codified at RCW 41.06.020(5), RCW 41.06.133(10), and RCW 41.06.155. CP 2225-26.
- 11. The superior court erred in entering Conclusions of Law Nos. 5, 8, 16, 18, and 22, which provide that paying Plaintiffs less than LPN 4s and MHT 3s violates their rights to equal protection under the State and Federal Constitutions and that the State has failed to establish a rational basis for paying Plaintiffs less. CP at 2226, 2228-29.
- 12. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 9, which provides that the onerous nature of the security duties coupled with the care and treatment of the patient in the forensic

wards of Western and Eastern State Hospitals is most properly remedied by establishing the appropriate salary range for LPN 4s for PSNs and MHT 3s for PSAs. CP at 2227.

- 13. The superior court erred in entering Conclusions of Law Nos. 10, 11, 19, and 22, which provide that the payment of PSNs and PSAs at one salary range lower then LPN 4s and MHT 3s, respectively, is arbitrary and capricious. CP at 2227-29.
- 14. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 12 to the extent it concludes that the State pays PSNs and PSAs salaries that disregard their duties and the burdens of their jobs. CP at 2227.
- 15. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 13, which provides an award of back pay, higher salary ranges going forward, plus any premium pay, including overtime. CP at 2227.
- 16. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 14, which provides for related contributions associated with back pay awards, including but not limited to, contributions to the Washington Public Employees Retirement System. CP at 2227.
- 17. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 15, which provides for interest on all sums not paid from the date of entry of the judgment forward at the statutory rate for interest in judgments. CP at 2227.
- 18. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 20, which provides that the superior court's inherent power under the Washington Constitution to review administrative decisions for illegal or arbitrary acts affords Plaintiffs a remedy for the arbitrary and capricious actions of the State in paying Plaintiffs less than similarly situated employees without a rational basis in reality for paying these Plaintiffs less than similarly situated employees and in conscious disregard of the actual working conditions and the more onerous and exacting nature of their duties. CP at 2228.
- 19. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 21, which provides that the Plaintiffs are entitled to prospective relief in the setting of the rates of pay pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in as

much as the defendants have violated their rights of equal protection under the United States Constitution. CP at 2229.

20. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 23 to the extent that it provides that the State's waiver of sovereign immunity renders the decisions of *Will v. Michigan Dept. of State Police*, 491 U.S. 58, 109 S. Ct. 2304 (1989), and *Rains v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 660, 674 P.2d 165 (1983), inapplicable to Washington State. The superior court, nevertheless, correctly concluded that Plaintiffs are not entitled to damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. CP at 2229.

21. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 25, which provides that the findings of fact and conclusions of law entered in the action brought in Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 80-2-00966-1, affirmed in No. 8345-1-II are established as a matter of law and the State is collaterally estopped from relitigating those issues based upon the record herein and that the record in this case establishes the Plaintiffs' claims without resort to collateral estoppel, in any event. CP at 2229-30.

- 22. The superior court erred in entering Conclusions of Law Nos. 27 and 28, which direct that the pay ranges of PSNs and PSAs be adjusted as specified in Findings of Fact Nos. 37 and 38 effective May 16, 2004, and PSNs and PSAs be paid the difference between the two salary ranges for all hours compensated on or after May 16, 2004. CP at 2230.
- 23. The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 29 and 30, which provide that absent a substantial change in circumstances and duties, the State shall not pay PSNs at a pay range lower than the LPN 4 pay range and PSAs at a pay range lower than the MHT 3 pay range. CP at 2230.
- The superior court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 31 and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorneys' Fees dated July 22, 2011, which awards Plaintiffs attorneys' fees and costs. CP at 2230, 2192-96.
- 25. The superior court erred in denying the State's motion in limine to exclude Plaintiffs' expert testimony, allowing expert testimony that

does not meet the standard in Evidence Rule 702, and further allowing the expert to testify as to a legal conclusion. CP at 1542-1613, 1777-79; Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 75.

- 26. The superior court erred in denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss at the close of Plaintiffs' case. VRP at 576-87, 596-08.
- 27. The superior court erred in denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. CP at 545–1073, 1458-60; VRP (Feb. 6, 2009) at 1-18.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Does the State of Washington have a rational basis for paying employees according to their differing job classifications, where the employees expressly agreed to the applicable wage amounts through collective bargaining and where the job classifications each have distinctive duties, working conditions, and other privileges of employment? (Findings of Fact Nos. 6, 7, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 26, 29, 30, 32, 34, 43, 44; Conclusions of Law Nos. 3, 5, 8, 16, 18, 21, 22, 23)
- 2. Can employees obtain adjustment of their wages directly in superior court under the court's inherent power and the comparable worth statutes, where employees identify no specific decision by the State for review and where the State complied with the comparable worth requirements in 1993? (Findings of Fact Nos. 27, 28, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48; Conclusions of Law Nos. 3, 4, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 20, 27, 29)
- 3. Is the State collaterally estopped by a twenty-five year old superior court decision regarding the allocation of positions into civil service classifications, where the Plaintiffs do not challenge their civil service classifications, and, therefore, the issues in the two cases are different? (Finding of Fact No. 15; Conclusion of Law No. 25)
- 4. Are attorney fees available to a prevailing party under both a fee shifting statute and the equitable common fund doctrine? (Conclusion of Law No. 31; Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Attorneys' Fees, CP at 2192-96)

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

DSHS employs various nursing and patient care staff at its psychiatric hospitals, Western State Hospital (WSH) and Eastern State Hospital (ESH).<sup>3</sup> Among the staff are licensed practical nurses and personal care (nursing assistant) staff. These employees are classified civil service employees. RCW 41.06.020(5), .040(2), .070.

Since 1960, when the Civil Service Act was passed by initiative, the State has been required to maintain a comprehensive classification plan for all positions employed in the classified service, based on investigation and analysis of the duties and responsibilities of each such position. Initiative 207, Laws of 1961, ch. 1 (codified in RCW 41.06). As a result, each classified position within State service is categorized into a specific job classification. A salary schedule, in turn, sets forth the salary range that may be afforded to employees based on the job classification they occupy. All positions within a single job classification are placed in the same salary range. WAC 357-28-020; Trial Exhibit (Ex.) 219 at 97. Additionally, the ability to promote, transfer, bump other employees during a layoff, or revert to another position derives from the specific job classification the employee occupies or has previously occupied. *See generally* WAC 357-19 (differentiating as to trial service periods,

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  For a description of the hospitals, see CP at 1821-25, incorporated herein by this reference, and VRP at 757-64.

reversions, and transfers based on whether employee has held permanent status in the affected job classification); WAC 357-46-035 (providing right to layoff option based on whether employee has held permanent status in the relevant job classification). *See also* Exs. 219-221 (parties' collective bargaining agreements provide same layoff rights). Thus, employees are differentiated from one another based on the specific job classifications to which they are assigned.

There are two different civil service job classifications for employees performing licensed practical nurse functions—the LPN class series and the PSN classification. LPNs work primarily on the civil commitment wards of the hospitals. CP at 2215-16. PSNs are assigned to the criminal commitment (forensic) wards.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* The LPN classification is also used by DSHS at its residential facilities for the developmentally disabled and the Special Commitment Center for sexually violent predators. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 332, 1045. Other state agencies also use the LPN classification. The Department of Veterans Affairs employs LPNs in its veterans' homes and the Department of Corrections employs LPNs in the medical facilities within prisons. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 332, 743-44. On the other hand, the PSN classification is unique to DSHS's psychiatric

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  The process for civil commitment to the hospitals is set forth in RCW 71.05 and the process for criminal commitment is set forth in RCW 10.77. *See* CP at 1821-22; VRP at 766-70, 851-54.

hospitals, i.e., it is not used in other DSHS facilities or by other state agencies. VRP at 685.

The nursing assistant staff is also split in two different civil service job classifications depending on whether they work on civil commitment wards or forensic wards. These job classifications are the MHT class series and the PSA classification, respectively. CP at 2215.

Within the LPN class series, there are three levels–LPN 1, LPN 2 and LPN 4–creating a career ladder. LPN 1s are entry level positions used for new employees to gain training and to learn the procedures of the hospital. VRP at 686. The employees work under close supervision. *Id.* LPN 2s are the journey-level workers that perform the full scope of licensed practical nursing responsibilities, including passing medications and administering treatments, and work more independently. Exs. 36, 210. *See also* VRP at 686, 689, 741, 869. LPN 4s perform the same nursing work that LPN 2s do, but have additional administrative responsibilities. *See generally* Ex. 209. The LPN 4 is the supervisory or lead level of the series. *Id. See also* VRP at 687, 867.

Prior to July 1, 2005, the LPN 4s at WSH and ESH were supervisors. VRP at 27, 156–57, 349–50, 868. They directed the work of the LPN 2s and LPN 1s as well as the MHTs. They conducted the performance evaluations of the LPN and MHT staff that reported to them.

VRP at 868, 1030. The LPN 4s working in the veteran's homes operated by the Department of Veteran's Affairs are still supervisors with all of the responsibilities that entails. Ex. 209 at 14-71; VRP at 745–46.

As of July 1, 2005, when there was a consolidation of management responsibilities within DSHS, LPN 4s at WSH and ESH were, with one exception,<sup>5</sup> no longer supervisors but continued to be designated as the lead worker on their wards, assigning work to the LPN 2s and MHTs on their wards, ordering supplies, and performing other tasks as needed. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 27, 29, 148, 149, 347, 575, 867, 870, 1122-24; Ex. 209. As the lead worker, the LPN 4 is the single responsible staff person on the ward for ensuring that all required tasks are performed and patient needs met. VRP at 145, 149, 687, 870, 873, 964-67, 982-90, 1002, 1007-10, 1030, 1100; Ex. 229 at 227. While there are typically several LPN 2s working on any given shift on any given civil ward, there is only one LPN 4 on each shift per ward. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 27, 29, 359, 873, 1023.

PSNs, who perform licensed practical nurse work on the forensic wards, do not have levels within their classification. VRP at 142, 320. There are no PSN 1, 2, 3s or 4s; there are only PSNs. There are typically several PSNs working on each ward each shift, and to the extent that they perform administrative work in addition to their nursing duties, they share

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Until 2011, WSH did continue to use an LPN 4 as a supervisor in the Program for Adaptive Living Skills. VRP at 869.

such tasks. VRP at 30-31, 97, 143, 146, 148, 289, 319, 348–49, 874, 1145. The PSN is not a designated lead worker. Ex. 213; VRP at 148, 347, 800, 874, 1109. The RN is the lead on the forensic wards. *See* VRP 347, 1015, 1109, 1129-30. Just as LPN 2s may act as lead in the absence of the LPN 4, PSNs may trade off acting as lead in the absence of the RN. VRP at 159, 160, 175, 178, 270, 319, 352, 994, 1012. But, there is no PSN designated as the lead worker for the ward with that level of responsibility and accountability one hundred percent of the time, as the LPN 4 is on a civil ward.

Within the MHT class series, there are three classifications currently used in patient care capacities at the hospital. Like LPNs, MHTs work up the series ladder by taking on increasing levels of responsibility for administrative tasks. MHT 1s are the journey-level classification in the MHT class series. VRP at 699. They escort and account for patients, assist in activities of daily living, and perform other nursing assistant tasks as needed. VRP at 877. MHT 2s and MHT 3s perform all of the same patient care responsibilities that MHT 1s do, with added administrative responsibilities. VRP at 877-78; *see generally* Exs. 211, 212. While there are typically several MHT 1s on any given shift on any given civil ward, there is only one MHT 2 and only one MHT 3 on each ward. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 802-04, 831, 878. MHT 3s, who only work day shift, have sole

responsibility for ordering supplies, completing certain ward paperwork, accounting for patient belongings, and other administrative tasks. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 31-32, 128, 359, 802-03, 831, 875-76, 945-46, 967-68, 1101, 1111-17; Ex. 211. MHT 2s, who only work day or swing shift, cover MHT 3 responsibilities when the MHT 3 is not present. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 803, 831-32, 876-77; Ex. 212.

In contrast, the PSAs, who work exclusively on the forensic wards, do not have levels within their classification. To the extent that PSAs perform administrative tasks, they share the tasks amongst several PSAs and other staff. *See, e.g.*, VRP at 153, 328, 448-49, 452, 806, 833, 878-79, 1103. Unlike the MHT 3, there is no single PSA with the entirety of the administrative responsibilities that a single MHT 3 has on a civil ward. *Id*.

The fact that these employees–PSNs and LPNs, PSAs and MHTs– are in different job classifications dates back to the 1980s when the Thurston County Superior Court overturned a decision of the State Personnel Board reallocating the employees working as PSNs and PSAs into the LPN and MHT (formerly HA) job classes. Ex. 27. *See also* Exs. 3-5, 141-143. Since that time, the PSNs, PSAs, and their union, the Washington Federation of State Employees (WFSE), have fought to retain their unique job classifications. VRP at 330-31, 668, 1035. Thus, in this case, the Plaintiffs are not challenging the fact that the State classifies them separately from the LPNs and MHTs. VRP at 324-25, 330-31, 357, 363.

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