12 MAR 20 PM 1: 17
STATE OF JUNE 21 ON
BY

Cause No. 42332-4-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES AND DEPARTMENT OF PERSONNEL,

Appellants,

v.

MICHAEL SCHATZ, ET AL,

Respondents

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

RICHARD H. WOOSTER, WSBA 13752 Kram & Wooster Attorney for Appellants 1901 South I Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 572-4161

PHILIP A. TALMADGE, WSBA 6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwilla, WA 98188-4630 Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

## V. Summary of Argument

The duties of the PSNs are the same as LPN4s. PSN positions were created out of the LPN3s, which are now known as LPN4s. The duties of the PSAs are the same as MHT3s. PSNs and PSAs have additional and more onerous and exacting duties and working conditions in addition to the same duties of their non-forensic counterparts. Yet the Workers are not paid more than their counterparts, they are paid less.

As in WPEA, paying the Workers at a lower rate than their counterparts denies them equal protection. The State also violated the comparable worth statute in paying them less for their duties and is the result of arbitrary, capricious and/or illegal conduct by the State. The Workers are entitled to a remedy for pay inequities.

The trial court's factually and legally supported decision should be upheld, the State waived challenges to the legal sufficiency of the underlying claims or the evidentiary support for such claims by failing to renew its motion to dismiss at the close of the case. The trial court was in

a better position to address a dismissal motion having heard ten days of testimony and reviewing thousands of pages of exhibits. Challenges to findings were waived on appeal by the State where it failed to show the absence of substantial evidence supporting the findings, as well as, the failure to address sufficiency of the evidence supporting a denial of the motion to dismiss in their brief. Attorney fees were properly awarded. The judgment should be affirmed.

Because RCW 49.50.070 applies, trial court erred where it denied double damages.

### VI. Argument

#### A. Standard of Review

CR 50 motions for judgment as a matter of law call for the evidence and all reasonable inferences reasonably drawn the evidence to be interpreted against the moving party and in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 537–38, 222 P.3d 1208 (2009). Appellate courts must defer to the trier of fact on issues involving conflicting testimony, witness credibility and the persuasiveness of the evidence.. *Thompson v. Hanson*, 142 Wn.App. 53, 60, 174 P.3d 120 (2007). The same standard applies on summary judgment. *Marquis v. Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 105, 922 P.2d 43 (1996). Abuse of discretion standard applies in reviewing denial of motions for new trial. *Aluminum* 

Co. of America v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 P.2d 856 (2000).

Where the trial court weighed the evidence and entered findings of fact, review of such findings is limited to determining whether there is a sufficient quantum of evidence in to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of findings and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law. *Holland v. Boeing Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 384, 390–91, 583 P.2d 621(1978),

In cases such as this where the trial court reviewed an enormous amount of documentary evidence, weighed that evidence, resolved inevitable evidentiary conflicts and discrepancies, and issued statutorily mandated written findings substantial evidence is appropriate. *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 311, 258 P.3d 20, 27 (2011)(Class action affirming extending PERS benefits to county public defenders).

Review of an equitable decision is for an abuse of discretion by the trial court. *Willener v. Sweeting*, 107 Wn.2d 388, 397, 730 P.2d 45 (1986); the trial court's decision may be affirmed on any theory supported by the record and the legal authorities even if the trial court did not consider or mainly consider such grounds. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

A trial court's admission of evidence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr. v. Wash. Dep't of* 

*Health*, 164 Wn.2d 95, 104, 187 P.3d 243 (2008). A trial court abuses its discretion when the ruling is "manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. "*Salas v. Hi–Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 668–69, 230 P.3d 583 (2010)(internal quotations omitted).

Whether to award costs and attorney fees is a legal issue reviewed de novo. *Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103–04, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). The amount of fees is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 848, 240 P.3d 120, 131 (2010).

# B. Reply to State's Arguments

### 1. The State Has Waived its Arguments.

By Failing to Renew the Motion to Dismiss at the Close of the Case or by CR 59 Motion Within Ten Days of the Judgment the State Waived its Right to Challenge the Legal or Factual Basis for the Judgment and the State Cannot Rely Upon the Motion for Summary Judgment Following a Full trial on the Merits.

The State's motion for summary judgment, CP 545-571, was denied. CP 1458-1460. The State sought discretionary review in this Court on the core legal issue it now raises on appeal. (Court of Appeals Cause No. 38970-3-II.); CP 1462-1466; 1475-78 staying proceedings; CP 1480-81. This Court denied review. See Appendix..

The State moved for judgment as a matter of law at the close of Workers' case RP 576 -598; CP 1926-1951. The trial court denied the motion. RP 609-10. But the State never renewed its motion at the close of the case. RP 1159; 1165.

In *Ortiz v. Jordan*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. 884, 178 L.Ed.2d 703 (2011) governmental officials sought to set aside a prisoner's 42 U.S.C.§ 1983 jury verdict on the basis of qualified immunity after their pre-trial motion for summary judgment had been denied. Dismissing the appeal the court held the officials' "failure to renew motion for judgment as a matter of law under Fed. R. of Civ. Pro. 50(b) left the appellate court with no warrant to reject the appraisal of the evidence by 'the judge who saw and heard the witnesses and ha[d] the feel of the case which no appellate printed transcript can impart.' " Ortiz \_\_\_ U.S. at \_\_\_, 131 S.Ct at 889.

The court also held denial of summary judgment should not be reviewed, such orders are simply a step along the route to final judgment. The full record supersedes summary judgment's record. *Ortiz*, \_\_ U.S. at \_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. at 889.

This case is no different. The State did not make a CR 50(b) motion or a motion for relief from the judgment under Rule 59(a)(7), while witnesses' testimony and thousands of explained pages of exhibits were fresh before the trial court. This Court should not review a record

incapable of capturing the intertwined factual and legal nuances of testimony explaining thousands of pages of exhibits.

This court should rule as a matter of law that the State has waived any further appellate review of the equal protection claim, comparable worth claim or determination the pay inequities were the product of arbitrary and capricious conduct by the State because of the State's failure to bring a timely post trial motion under CR 50 or 59. As factual issues are sufficiently intertwined with the legal determinations, the trial court should not be second guessed.

# 2. The State Waived Arguments It Failed to Properly Raise in Its Brief.

The State's shotgun approach to this appeal compounds the inadequacy of its post trial procedures. Clumping numerous findings of fact together in the assignments of error in its brief, but never untangling or arguing them waived any challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the findings. RAP 10.3(g) requires each allegedly improper finding of fact to be set out separately. By not complying with RAP 10.4(c), requiring challenged finding to be addressed in the brief, the State has waived challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence. Such rules "add order to and expedite appellate procedure by eliminating the laborious task of searching through the record for such matters as findings claimed to

have been made in error." *In re Marriage of Stern,* 57 Wn.App. 707, 710, 789 P.2d 807 (1990). By failing to address findings the State improperly asks this Court to engage in a fact finding expedition. The unchallenged findings must be accepted as verities on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley,* 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

An additional problem is that the State raised three claimed errors only in a footnote. Placing an argument in a footnote is, "at best, ambiguous or equivocal as to whether the issue is truly intended to be part of the appeal." *St. Joseph Gen. Hosp. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 158 Wn.App. 450, 473, 242 P.3d 897 (2010).

The State has waived any challenge to the following findings of fact: FF 6, FF 7, FF 17, FF 18, FF 19, FF 20, FF 21, FF 26, FF 29, FF 30, FF 32, and FF 34 which State lumped into Assignment of Error 1; FF 15, the alleged mischaracterization of the prior litigation stated in FF 15; FF 27, regarding pay of PSNs and PSAs lagging behind LPN4s and MHT3s; or the that the current pay inversion was contrary to the original basis for creating the positions of PSN and PSA thwarting the result of the prior litigation; FF, 28, 46, and 47 which State lumped into Assignment of Error 4; FF 36, 37, 38, 39, 40 and 45 which State lumped into Assignment of Error 5; FF 43 and 44 which State lumped into Assignment of Error 6; FF

48 determining the Workers had no meaningful avenue of review or that such efforts would be futile.

The State made no effort to address the appropriateness of setting the start date for any remedy at May 16, 2004, three years prior to suit, CP 4, or allowing the relief to continue prospectively; the State took no effort to address apparent concerns retroactive pay should be accomplished by placing the employees at the same step in the multi-step pay range to which they were assigned in the lower salary range or that wages include any premium pay, including but not limited to overtime; the State's brief makes no mention of why any remedy should exclude PERS contributions on any pay award. The State's brief makes no mention of post judgment interest on any award or why that remedy is not appropriate. Those issues are waived.

The State objects to the trial court's order of prospective injunctive relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 of salary adjustments going forward after the trial only in a passing reference to 42 U.S.C. §1983 in a footnote discussing Workers' rights regarding writs of certiorari to seek redress for arbitrary and capricious state action. That issue is waived.

The State assigned error to the court's denial of motion *in limine* to exclude Dr. Kane's testimony was waived by making just a passing reference to this witness's testimony in a footnote discussing the doctrine

of comparable worth without addressing why the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the testimony.

The State asserts the trial court improperly denied its motions for summary judgment or directed verdict at the close of the Workers' case, but did not address the standard of review for denial or otherwise address the motions in their brief.

This Court should not be obliged to tease out from the State's claims of error its precise argument. Nor is it fair for the Workers to be compelled to do so should the State try to make amends on reply. The State has waived these errors.

# 3 Substantial Evidence Supports Workers' Equal Protection Claims.

# a) Equal Protection Rights and Remedies Under State and Federal Constitutions.

The trial court held that the PSNs' jobs were essentially the same as the LPN4s and that the PSAs' jobs were essentially the same as the MHT3s. CP 2216. This assessment was concurred with by the psychiatric nurse executive at Western State. RP 548, 564-67.

In WPEA, this Court held that "wage disparities between state employees who performed essentially the same jobs violated federal equal protection guarantees" in a case involving pay disparities between classes of employees in the state general government and higher education who

performed substantially similar work. *WPEA*, 127 Wn. App. at 257. Challenging the failure of the responsible state agencies to equalize the basic salary ranges for the affected common class employees the employees established such failure violated state civil service laws and the state and federal equal protection guarantees. *Id.* 

This Court concluded the State's failure to equalize basic salaries among State employees who do essentially the same work, *id.*, and "that the State's failure to equalize basic salary levels bears no rational relationship to the purposes of Washington's Civil Service Laws." *Id.* at 268 violated employees' rights.

In a similar case, *Peterson v. Hanson*, 565 F.Supp. 87 (E.D. Wisc. 1983), reconsideration granted, 569 F.Supp. 694 (1983)(decision unchanged), the plaintiffs obtained declaratory and injunctive relief that their salaries as court reporters violated Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The differences were not based on individual reporter skill, experience, or any other identifiable reasonable ground and the court determined that the court reporters, having the same job duties, were similarly situated and there was no rational basis for their disparate salary classifications. *Id.* at 88-89.

The State argues that the rational basis for paying the Worker's less is because they have more difficult duties in addition to the overlap in

the duties with LPN4s and MHT3s. That is not a rational basis to pay them less for their equal duties.

### b) No Rational Basis Supports Paying the Workers Less Because the Workers' Duties Include More Difficult and Onerous Aspects Beyond the Overlap in Their Duties.

Under the rational basis test, a court will uphold the government action if (1) the government action in question applies alike to all members of the designated class, (2) there are reasonable grounds to distinguish between those within and without the class, and (3) the classification has a rational relationship to the legislative purpose. WPEA, 127 Wn. App. at 263 (citations omitted). In other words, state action does not violate the equal protection clause if there is a rational relationship between the classification and a legitimate state interest. State v. Osman, 157 Wn.2d 474, 486, 139 P.3d 334 (2006) (citing Simpson v. State, 26 Wn.App. 687, 693, 615 P.2d 1297 (1980)). Courts will uphold State action unless "it rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of legitimate state objective." Osman, 157 Wn.2d at 486 (citations omitted). Paying the Workers less is lawful only if there is some basis in reality for the distinction between the two classes and the distinction serves the purpose intended by the legislature. Id. (italics in original). The State did not demonstrate a basis in reality for the disparity in pay.

### c) The Proper Designated Class is PSNs and PSAs Who do the Same Work But Are Paid Less.

The State misconstrue the designated class in this case, arguing that each of the State's own job classifications (for PSN, PSA, LPN4, and MHT3) would constitute a designated class' for equal protection purposes, that all PSNs are treated equally and all PSAs are treated equally, and that there is no 'designated class' from which the Workers are being treated differently because "the State does not maintain multiple job classifications for positions with identical duties and responsibilities." State's Br. at 18, 21. The Workers' assertion is that the overlap in duties triggers the Workers' equal protection violation.

In *WPEA*, this Court determined that the state workers' identity of duties defines the designated class, 127 Wn. App. at 267, and found the appropriate class designation was workers paid less than other state employees doing the same work. *Id.* at 264. Accordingly, the designated class for purposes of the rational basis test in this case is the PSNs and PSAs on the forensic wards who do the same work as the LPN4s and MHT3s on the non-forensic wards, but are paid less. The government action at issue is the State's failure to equalize basic salaries of those employees.

d) There Are No Reasonable Grounds for Paying the Workers Less for Performing the Same Duties.

The analysis turns to whether reasonable grounds in reality to justifying paying the PSNs and PSAs less than the LPN4s and MHT3s.

See WPEA, id. at 267 (determining the proper comparison was "lower paid employees in both systems against higher paid employees in both systems doing the same work"). Some basis in reality must exist for distinguishing between the two classes. Osman, 157 Wn.2d at 486 (italics in original). Instead of demonstrating a basis in reality to pay the Workers less than their non-forensic counterparts, the State argues that the Workers have more onerous and exacting duties beyond those assigned to LPN4s and MHT3, despite the overlap in their duties. State's Br. at 22.

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